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How Hard Should It Be to Imprison 
Someone for Telling the Truth? 

FDA Advertising Regulation Enforcement
by Frederick R. Ball, Erin M. Duff y, and Nina L. Russakoff 

T he past two decades have seen a fl urry of enforcement 
activity surrounding pharmaceutical companies’ 
promotion of their drugs for uses other than those 

approved by the Federal Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA)—so-called “off -label” uses.1 At the heart of these crimi-
nal prosecutions is the allegation that the advertisements of the 
medications at issue resulted in misbranding.2 While several 
off -label advertisement defenses have focused on the adver-
tising party’s First Amendment rights,3 these defenses have 
only been partially successful, since “commercial speech” is 
provided far less protection under the First Amendment than 
topics like political, scientifi c or purely opinion speech.4

I. Background: The FDA Regulatory 
Framework for Advertising

Th e Pharmaceutical Regulatory Scheme and FDCA Cases
When the government pursues a criminal prosecution 

under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), the 
false or misleading message appears to be that the off -label use 
is, in fact, approved by the Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA).5 Which uses are “on” and which are “off ” label are a by-
product of the following complicated FDA regulatory scheme.

Aft er reviewing the clinical data submitted by a pharmaceu-
tical company or drug manufacturer, FDA evaluates whether 
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a “new drug” is safe and eff ective for its 
proposed uses. Absent a fi nding that 
the “new drug” meets those criteria, 
the sponsor of the “new drug” cannot 
market or distribute the drug 
in the United States. Th e process of 
getting a drug approved by FDA—
the investigational new drug (IND) 
process—is costly and time-consuming. 
Th e IND process typically has three 
separate phases.6 

“Phase I” trials evaluate the safety of 
the medication by studying the eff ect 
of the drug and are designed to deter-
mine the metabolic and pharmacologic 
actions of the drug in humans, the side 
eff ects associated with increasing doses, 
and, if possible, to gain early evidence 
on eff ectiveness.7 “Phase II” trials are 
designed to obtain preliminary data 
on the eff ectiveness of the drug for a 
particular indication or indications 
in patients with the disease or condi-
tion.8 “Phase III” trials are intended to 
gather additional information about 
eff ectiveness and safety that is needed 
to evaluate the overall benefi t-risk 
relationship of the drug.9 Many drugs, 
like chemotherapy drugs for example, 
have deeply deleterious—sometimes 
even fatal—side eff ects, and part of the 
FDA approval process is weighing the 
potentiality for those side eff ects against 
the disease process the drug is designed 
to treat. Th e sponsor’s goal at the end 
of the IND process is an approved New 
Drug Application (NDA).10

Th e FDCA generally prohibits manu-
facturers of new drugs or new devices 
from distributing products in interstate 
commerce for any use not set forth in 
the approved NDA.11 Nevertheless, once 
an approved NDA exists, a healthcare 
professional may lawfully use or pre-
scribe that product for any use, within 
the limits set by professional standards 

of practice, including off -label uses not 
set forth in the approved NDA.12 For 
some conditions, an off -label use of a 
medication may refl ect the standard 
of care.13 

Th erefore, in many cases health 
insurers, including the Federal govern-
ment, will pay for off -label treatments.14 
Under FDA regulations, however, if the 
sponsor wants to market or promote 
the “new drug” for an off -label use, then 
FDA requires separate approval by FDA 
through the fi ling, for example, of an 
NDA deviation.15 Consequently, while 
physicians may prescribe an approved 
drug for any purpose, sponsors may 
only market their drugs for uses set 
forth in the approved NDA.

In order to ensure that sponsors do 
not market their drugs for unapproved 
uses, FDA controls sponsors’ promo-
tional activities through an intricate 
series of regulations and statutes. 
Under the FDCA it is illegal to directly 
or indirectly distribute a product in 
interstate commerce that is “adulter-
ated” or “misbranded.”16 Th e statute 
further mandates that an approved drug 
that is marketed for an unapproved 
use (whether in labeling or in another 
manner) is “misbranded” because the 
labeling of such drug does not include 
“adequate directions for use.”17

A drug is “adulterated” if its labeling 
includes information regarding a use 
that FDA has not approved.18 Further-
more, FDA regulations also provide “[a]
n advertisement for a prescription drug 
… shall not be recommended or sug-
gest any use that is not in the labeling 
accepted in such approved new-drug 
application or supplement.”19 FDA 
interprets “advertisement” “to include 
information other than labeling that 
originates from the same source as 
the product and that is intended to 

supplement or explain the product.”20 
Consequently, in addition to drug 
labeling, FDA considers manufacturer 
speech concerning its products subject 
to its regulatory prohibitions on off -
label promotion.

Pharmaceutical sponsors of approved 
drugs engage in standard advertising 
techniques, including mailing sales bro-
chures to physicians and their offi  ces, 
giving out “free samples” to prescribing 
physicians and putting advertisements 
in medical journals.21 But they also 
maintain a network of sales representa-
tives that utilize sophisticated technol-
ogy, including data-mining and per-
sonal interviews, to monitor individual 
physicians’ prescribing habits and target 
those physicians that they believe are 
under-utilizing their product or utiliz-
ing a competitor product instead.22 

A fi ne line oft en exists between some 
pharmaceutical companies’ marketing 
and research activities. Pharmaceuti-
cal companies oft en hire scientists and 
physicians, sometimes from high-profi le 
academic institutions, to conduct or 
present the latest research about their 
products, or lead physician groups 
dedicated to creating standard uses 
of medications for particular conditions 
or diagnoses.23

II. Caronia, Harkonen and 
Holloway

In United States v. Caronia, the 
United States charged Alfred Caronia 
(Caronia), a sales representative for 
Orphan Medical, Inc. (Orphan), with 
violating Sections 331(a) and (k) of the 
FDCA. Sections 331(a) and (k) prohibit 
the introduction or causing the intro-
duction into interstate commerce of any 
misbranded drug.

Caronia was a sales representative 
for Xyrem, a sleep inducing depres-
sant, whose principal ingredient was 
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gamma-hydroxybutyrate (GHB).24 Xy-
rem was fi rst approved by FDA in July 
2002 to treat patients with narcolepsy 
who experience episodes of cataplexy, 
a condition associated with weak and 
paralyzed muscles.25 In November 2005, 
FDA approved Xyrem to treat excessive 
daytime sleepiness (EDS) in patients 
with narcolepsy. Xyrem is not approved 
for any other medical indications.

Abuse of Xyrem can lead to depen-
dence and withdrawal symptoms as 
well as medical problems including 
seizures, coma and death. Due to FDA’s 
concerns over Xyrem’s potential serious 
risks, FDA required, prior to approval, 
that Xyrem’s label include a “black box” 
warning.26 In addition, distribution of 
Xyrem was restricted and subject to sev-
eral conditions. For example, Orphan 
only distributed it through a single, 
centralized pharmacy, was required to 
provide physician and patient educa-
tion, maintain a physician and patient 
registry, track prescription usage, and 
detail patient surveillance.

In April 2005 FDA’s Offi  ce of Crimi-
nal Investigations, Special Prosecutions 
Staff , opened a criminal investigation of 
alleged off -label promotion of Xyrem. 
As part of its investigation, the govern-
ment used a physician as an undercover 
cooperating witness to determine if the 
allegations were true. Th e government 
charged that on October 26, 2005, Caro-
nia allegedly promoted several off -label 
uses of Xyrem including fi bromyalgia, 
EDS, muscle disorders, chronic pain, 
and fatigue to its undercover witness.27 
Th e government further alleged that, on 
November 2, 2005, Caronia introduced 
to the undercover witness another 
Orphan-paid physician who also pro-
moted Xyrem for off -label indications, 
including fi bromyalgia, EDS, sleepiness, 
weight loss and chronic fatigue.28

Pursuant to its misbranding regu-
lations, the U.S. government fi led a 
two-count misdemeanor complaint 
against Caronia.29 Count one alleged 
that, between March 2005 and March 
2006, Caronia knowingly and intention-
ally conspired with others to misbrand 
a drug by marketing Xyrem for off -label 
uses in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 331(a), 
(k), 333(a)(1) and 18 U.S.C. § 371. Count 
two charged Caronia with a substantive 
violation of misbranding a drug while 
it was held for sale aft er shipment in 
interstate commerce, violating 21 U.S.C. 
§§ 331(k) and 333(a)(1).

Caronia moved to dismiss on several 
bases, including that the misbranding 
provisions of the FDCA violated the 
Free Speech Clause of the First Amend-
ment.30 Th e Caronia Court quickly re-
jected Caronia’s fi rst two arguments in 
support of his motion to dismiss.31 But, 
the Court spent considerable analysis on 
Caronia’s First Amendment argument 
as the constitutional issues raised by 
Caronia were “very much unsettled, not 
only in this circuit but nationwide.”32 
Essentially, Caronia argued that the 
government cannot restrict truthful, 
non-misleading promotion by a phar-
maceutical representative to a physician 
of the off -label uses of an FDA-approved 
drug.33 He pointed out the legal incon-
sistency that prohibits a pharmaceutical 
manufacturer from promoting off -label 
uses to physicians and consumers, yet 
permits physicians to prescribe drugs 
for an off -label purpose, regardless of 
whether that purpose has been ap-
proved by FDA.34

Th e Court denied Caronia’s argument 
that Sections 331(a) and (k) of the FDCA 
violated the First Amendment of the 
U.S. Constitution by restricting 
Caronia’s freedom of speech.35 Aft er 
noting a recent trend among courts 
holding that FDA’s off -label marketing 

restrictions were unconstitutional 
restrictions on commercial speech 
under the First Amendment, the Court 
rejected Caronia’s argument, instead 
fi nding that, in this case, the FDCA’s 
prohibition against off -label promotion 
was a reasonable fi t for the government’s 
interest in protecting the public health.36

In United States v. Harkonen, 
the United States has charged Scott 
Harkonen, an M.D. and C.E.O. of the 
small pharmaceutical company Inter-
Mune in California, with one count of 
wire fraud and one count of misbrand-
ing under section 331(a) of the FDCA.37 
Dr. Harkonen’s company manufactures 
Actimmune (interferon gamma-1b), a 
medication designed to treat chronic 
granulomatous disease and severe, ma-
lignant ostepetrosis.38 In October 2000, 
an article published in the New England 
Journal of Medicine, one of the pre-
eminent medical journals in the world, 
suggested that Actimmune may also 
have anti-fi brotic properties for treating 
idiopathic pulmonary fi brosis (IPF).39 
Th e article was based on a tiny observa-
tional study of 18 patients in Austria.40 
In other words, the article noted an 
exciting observation that was potentially 
a coincidence, but potentially a break-
through therapy.

Fibrosis is a description of progressive 
scarring that can occur in any bodily 
organ.41 In IPF the lungs are slowly 
overcome with fi brosis.42 No one knows 
what causes the fi brosis and, so far, there 
is no available treatment that stops or 
slows the progression. Th us, off -label 
use of Actimmune for IPF likely began 
shortly aft er the article was published in 
the New England Journal of Medicine. 
Dr. Harkonen and his company also 
quickly began a clinical trial to validate 
the observation in the Journal article, 
and make treating IPF an approved 
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use of Actimmune.43 Two years later, in 
2002, the study was completed.44 Th e 
fi brosis of patients across the board had 
not improved signifi cantly enough to 
conclude that Actimmune should be-
come a standard therapy for IPF.45 What 
it did fi nd, however, was a slowing of the 
progression of the fi brosis for patients 
that had initially begun treatment in a 
less advanced stage of IPF.46

Based on the fi nding about the sub-
group of patients with mild to moder-
ate IPF that could potentially benefi t 
from Actimmune, Dr. Harkonen sent 
out a press release touting the break-
through to physicians and patients.47 
Harkonen also assisted and caused the 
dissemination, by a specialty pharmacy 
in Florida, of the press release and an 
accompanying letter to patients and 
doctors, describing the fi ndings of the 
“preliminary data” and encouraging 
patients to use Actimmune early to treat 
IPF.48 InterMune also began an internal 
program encouraging and tracking the 
sale of Actimmune for IPF and reward-
ing sales representatives for those sales 
in their region.49 As part of the kick-off  
of this new program, InterMune sales 
representatives were given, inter alia, 
t-shirts promoting the use of Actim-
mune for IPF.50

In December of 2003, InterMune 
began a Phase II clinical trial of Actim-
mune in patients with early IPF.51 In 
2004, the Department of Justice (DOJ) 
began looking into allegations that 
InterMune marketed and promoted the 
sale of its drug Actimmune for the off -
label use of treating IPF.52 In 2007, the 
Phase II clinical trial was discontinued 
because of lack of demonstrated benefi t 
to patients.53 In March 2008, the DOJ 
indicted Harkonen for disseminating 
and causing to be disseminated infor-
mation about Actimmune for the 

treatment of IPF with the intent to de-
fraud and mislead, causing Actimmune 
to be misbranded.54

Harkonen moved to dismiss the 
charges arguing that the press release 
and other communications about 
Actimmune’s eff ectiveness for treating 
IPF charged as disseminations should 
be excluded from evidence because they 
do not constitute impermissible “label-
ing” within the meaning of the FDCA 
and that releases and communications 
fall under speech protected by the First 
Amendment.55 Th e court ruled on 
Harkonen’s motion to dismiss, refusing 
to dismiss the indictment, but agreeing 
that the evidence relating to the T-shirt 
distribution should be excluded because 
the shirts do not constitute labeling 
under the FDCA.56

In United States v. Holloway, the 
United States charged Mary Holloway 
(Holloway), the regional sales manager 
for the Northeast Region at Pfi zer, with 
violating sections 331(a), 333(a)(1), and 
352(f) of the FDCA.57 Sections 331(a), 
333(a)(1), and 352(f) prohibit the intro-
duction or delivery for introduction into 
interstate commerce of any misbranded 
drug.58 Th e United States alleged that 
Holloway marketed the drug Bextra, 
which was FDA approved to treat the 
signs and symptoms of osteoarthritis, 
adult rheumatoid arthritis, and primary 
dysmenorrhea, for off -label uses and 
dosages to prevent blood clots known 
as deep vein thromboses (DTV) and to 
alleviate surgical pain.59

Holloway worked in pharmaceuti-
cal sales at Pfi zer for more than two 
decades, earning glowing reviews and 
standing out as one of the few women at 
her level within the company.60 In 2002, 
Ms. Holloway provided a $100,000 
research grant to a consultant study-
ing the eff ect of replacing narcotics 

with COX-2 inhibitors in patients that 
have had joint replacement surgery.61 
Th e basic theory behind the research 
was that Bextra has fewer sedative side 
eff ects than narcotics. Since one of the 
primary reasons joint replacement 
patients develop DVTs aft er surgery is 
that they spend too long aft er surgery 
not moving, the research demon-
strated that providing them with a pain 
reliever like Bextra, instead of an opioid 
which has the side eff ect of increased 
drowsiness, tended to protect against 
DVTs.62 Ms. Holloway prepared a “DVT 
Backgrounder” with this informa-
tion, and had the consultant teach the 
science behind the message directly to 
her sales staff .63 She also, in coordina-
tion with another Regional Manager, 
collected and presented a group of pain 
management protocols and standing 
orders that had been implemented by 
various healthcare institutions; in those 
protocols and standing orders, some of 
the uses of Bextra were off -label.64 Ms. 
Holloway also forwarded to physicians 
in her sales region “Medical Inquiry 
Letters,” describing on-label and off -
label product usage and disease states.65 
Th ese letters were prepared by health-
care professionals and scientists.66

Th e Specifi c Statements
In Caronia, the Government pro-

vided a transcript of two conversations 
between Mr. Caronia and a “cooperat-
ing physician” that it purports demon-
strated Mr. Caronia’s false statements.67 
But, as the transcript makes clear, Mr. 
Caronia “clearly state[d] that Xyrem’s 
only indication is for narcolepsy.”68 Mr. 
Caronia did indicate that the company 
was actively researching the potential 
use of Xyrem for what were then off -
label uses like, for example, fi bromyal-
gia.69 Repeatedly, Mr. Caronia directed 
questions about off -label uses to 
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Dr. Gleason, a licensed physician 
that was also engaged as a consultant.70 
Th e indictment itself explains that 
Gleason gave talks promoting Xyrem’s 
off -label uses.71 Mr. Caronia was respon-
sible for introducing Dr. Gleason 
to other physicians.72

Th e specifi c representations Dr. Glea-
son was charged with making were that 
the “deep[er] sleep” made available by 
use of Xyrem benefi ted additional dis-
eases other than narcolepsy.73 Assum-
ing, then, that these representations can 
be attributed to Mr. Caronia through 
the conspiracy charges brought against 
him, the false representations he is 
charged with making is that Xyrem has 
benefi ts for patients with diseases other 
than narcolepsy because the symptoms 
of those diseases are primarily caused 
by a lack of deep sleep.

In Harkonen, the Court addressed 
the scope of the false statements at is-
sue. It found, in its Opinion addressing 
Harkonen’s Motion to Dismiss, that

 labeling under the FDCA is 
construed expansively, such that it 
may encompass nearly every form 
of promotional activity, including 
package inserts, pamphlets, mail-
ing pieces, fax bulletings, reprints 
of press releases, and all other lit-
erature that supplements, explains, 
or is otherwise textually related to 
the product.74

Applying this defi nition to the com-
munications at issue in Harkonen, the 
Court found that the press release and 
accompanying letter sent by the phar-
macy constituted “labeling,” although 
the T-shirts distributed to company 
employees did not. Th e Court explained 
this was because the “distribution was 
internal to InterMune employees only 
and was not designed for use in the 
distribution and sale of the drug, nor 

did it otherwise serve the ‘purposes of 
labeling’ so as to ‘supplement or explain’ 
Actimmune’s intended use.”75

Th e specifi c representations at issue in 
Harkonen, then, were all interpretations 
of the 2000 and 2002 studies, and con-
clusions as to patient care drawn from 
them. Th ey were limited to the press 
release and its accompanying letter, 
since the defi nition of “labeling” used by 
the Court would seem to preclude pros-
ecution on the basis of any documents 
designed by the company for internal 
use only.76

In Holloway, the specifi c representa-
tions, thus, boiled down to summaries 
of the DVT research, hospital protocols 
and standing orders, the communica-
tions regarding the off -label uses that 
were disclosed outside the company.77

III. Constitutional Law: The 
First Amendment, Central 
Hudson, and Procedural 
Due Process

None of the statements at issue in Ca-
ronia, Harkonen or Holloway explicitly 
misrepresented FDA regulatory status 
of the usages allegedly promoted. None, 
however, were considered “scientifi c 
opinion,” and therefore given full First 
Amendment protection, either. Instead, 
to the extent that they were scien-
tifi c opinion off ered by or on behalf of 
scientists, they were all alleged to have 
violated 21 CFR § 312.7(a), which reads:

 A sponsor or investigator, or 
any person acting on behalf of a 
sponsor or investigator, shall not 
represent in a promotional context 
that an investigational new drug 
is safe or eff ective for the purposes 
for which it is under investigation 
or otherwise promote the drug. 
Th is provision is not intended 
to restrict the full exchange of 
scientifi c information concerning 

the drug, including dissemination 
of scientifi c fi ndings in scientifi c or 
lay media. Rather, its intent is to re-
strict promotional claims of safety 
or eff ectiveness of the drug for a use 
for which it is under investigation 
and to preclude commercialization 
of the drug before it is approved for 
commercial distribution.

Section 312.7(a), by its own terms, 
acknowledges that it has the potential to 
restrict the fl ow of information that is 
scientifi c in nature, but relies on a fi nd-
ing of commercial “intent” to restrict 
only those communications made 
with a promotional purpose. At root, 
then, the FDCA makes not specifi c 
communications illegal, but rather 
specifi c intentions.

Fitting this regulation within First 
Amendment case law, the intention 
requirement converts these communi-
cations from fully-protected opinion 
speech to the less-protected “commer-
cial” speech. Scrutiny of “commercial” 
speech is based on the “Central Hud-
son,” test, fi rst established in Central 
Hudson Gas v. Public Serv. Comm’n of 
New York, 447 U.S. 557 (1980). When 
applying the Central Hudson test, a 
court must determine, as a threshold 
matter, whether the commercial 
speech concerns unlawful activity 
or is misleading. 

If the statements in question are 
found to be unlawful or misleading in 
and of themselves, then they are not 
protected by the First Amendment and 
the inquiry stops. Based the on Wash-
ington Legal Foundation line of cases, 
the promotion of off -label uses of FDA 
approved drugs has generally not 
been, in and of itself, considered 
unlawful or misleading. Since physi-
cians may lawfully prescribe drugs for 
off -label uses, physician statements 
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concerning off -label uses are generally 
not considered illegal. 

Th is comports with FDA regulations, 
which do not prohibit physicians from 
communicating information about 
off -label uses to each other, since FDA 
does not have authority to regulate 
the practice of medicine itself.78 Th e 
second prong of the Central Hudson 
test requires the court to evaluate 
whether the asserted government 
interest is substantial. Th ere can be 
no question that the government has 
a substantial interest in promoting 
accurate information disclosure about 
pharmaceutical applications. 

In the third step of its Central 
Hudson analysis, a Court must deter-
mine whether the particular regulation 
at issue directly advances this govern-
mental interest. Finally, in the fourth 
prong of Central Hudson analysis, a 
Court must apply the “reasonable fi t” 
test; it must determine whether the 
regulations at issue are more extensive 
than necessary to serve their purpose. 
If they are a “reasonable fi t,” the regula-
tions will stand.

Th e Supreme Court has recognized 
that some advertisements are so inher-
ently misleading that they can be held 
as such as a matter of law.79 Yet subse-
quent Supreme Court case law suggests 
that the weakest protections lie against 
speech that is more “action” than pure 
speech itself. “Our cases teach that 
there is a diff erence of constitutional 
dimension between rules prohibiting 
appeals to the public at large … and 
rules prohibiting direct, personalized 
communication in a coercive setting.”80 
First Amendment case law also appears 
much more likely to uphold disclosure 
requirements than regulations or stat-
utes that prohibit specifi c speech.81

IV. Reliance in Harkonen, 
Holloway and Caronia

Th is evaluation of the actual eff ect of 
the off -label advertising is the key ele-
ment missing in the FDCA prosecutions 
in Caronia, Harkonen and Holloway, 
and it should make these and other 
FDCA prosecutions suspect under the 
First, Fift h and Fourteenth Amend-
ments of the U.S. Constitution. Off -label 
prescriptions are legal because FDA 
lacks legal authority over the practice of 
medicine and, from a policy perspec-
tive, because of deference to physicians’ 
training and judgment regarding the 
best interests of their patients. Th e 
“audience” for pharmaceutical adver-
tisements is particularly well-versed 
in exactly the fi eld being addressed: 
medicine. In fact, physicians assume a 
heightened duty, even under product 
liability law, to understand and warn 
patients of the possible side eff ects of 
medications.82 Even under the reduced 
protections of Central Hudson, com-
mercial speech is protected to the extent 
that it is not false or misleading.

A. Caronia
In Caronia, the Court reached its de-

cision by applying the Central Hudson 
test and determining that the “public 
interest” in promoting public health 
justifi ed the restrictions on promotional 
advertising of off -label usages.83 At the 
heart of this missing discussion was the 
Court’s willful blindness to the fact that, 
in the regulatory system set up by the 
FDA, it is not the Courts that are in the 
position to determine the best interests 
of the patients. It is up to physicians and 
patients to make that determination.

Th e crux of the statements at issue in 
Caronia was that Xyrem would induce 
deeper sleep, which could itself assist in 
resolving the symptoms of several in-
dications for which the medication was 

not approved.84 FDA does not dispute 
that Xyrem induces deeper sleep. Nor 
does it aver that obtaining deeper sleep 
has no eff ect on patients affl  icted with 
these other physical issues. It merely 
contends, essentially, that Xyrem has 
yet to prove this to the satisfaction of 
FDA. Since FDA regulations allow the 
use of prescription medications for off -
label usages, however, the government 
implicitly acknowledges that it is not up 
to FDA to weigh the potential risks and 
benefi ts for these off -label uses for each 
patient. Th at determination is left  up 
to the discretion of the treating physi-
cian and the patient. Th us, FDA has not 
identifi ed what “harm” it is trying to 
protect against by restricting speech.

B. Holloway
Th e specifi c statements at issue in the 

Holloway case, the only ones that were 
communicated outside the company 
(and were therefore “promotional” as 
opposed to evidence of promotional 
intent), were the DVT research, hospital 
protocols and standing orders. Th ere 
was no allegation that these com-
munications were literally false, and 
no evidence proferred to suggest that 
they misled physicians. In fact, the 
hospital protocols and standing orders 
were draft ed by practicing physicians 
that had already weighed the risks and 
benefi ts to their patients. Ms. Holloway’s 
communications, which of course were 
absolutely made for promotional/com-
mercial purposes, communicated the 
professional judgments made by one set 
of physicians to another set of physi-
cians. As Ms. Holloway’s case settled 
before it could be decided by a jury, the 
Court was never faced with the question 
of how the government could prove, 
beyond a reasonable doubt, that physi-
cians—the only people in a position to 
actually rely on the communications—
were misled by the statements.
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C. Harkonen
Dr. Harkonen’s trial is still pending, 

but all parties agree that the government 
is not required to introduce evidence of 
“reliance” in proving falsity.85 Th e Court 
has already upheld the prosecution 
under Central Hudson, so presumably it 
is satisfi ed that the public good—includ-
ing the health of the patients affl  icted 
with IPF that have no other medication 
to even try to slow or stop the progres-
sion of their fi brosis—is advanced by the 
prosecution of off -label advertising.

V. Conclusion
Th e byzantine regulation of pharma-

ceutical sales has evolved into a danger 
to patient care and a threat to physician 
autonomy. Th e lost middle between 
“scientifi c opinion” and “promotional 
communication” is “in the best interests 
of the patient.” If FDA is going to strictly 
regulate this admittedly commercial 
speech, the prosecutors enforcing the 
regulations should at least be required 
to prove the substance of the com-
munications as they are understood by 
physicians, who with patients make the 
determinations regarding medical care 
and the best interests of the patients.  
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